

#### REPORT

March 2025

### Russia's and China's Influence in Central Asia: Europe's Prospects, Concerns and Search for Balance

#### **AUTHORS**

Alevtina Solovyeva, Alina Oprelianska, Betti Marie Peterson, Carl Liles, Danila Rygovskiy, Helen Haas, Ismet Suleimanov, Jonathan Darvish-Kojori, Mari Valdur Reyhaneh Ghoroghchian, Rodion Krupin, Vladimir Sazonov



Centre for Oriental Studies

Asia Centre

Title: Russia's and China's Influence in Central Asia: Europe's Prospects, Concerns and Search for Balance

Authors: Alevtina Solovyeva, Alina Oprelianska, Betti Marie Peterson, Carl Liles, Danila Rygovskiy, Helen Haas, Ismet Suleimanov, Jonathan Darvish-Kojori, Mari Valdur, Reyhaneh Ghoroghchian, Rodion Krupin, Vladimir Sazonov

Editors: Alevtina Solovyeva, Betti Marie Peterson, Vladimir Sazonov and Carl Liles Cover page photo: Nursultan's Photos "Aerial View of Almaty City", Pexels Design: Evelyn Pihla, University of Tartu Asia Centre

Review: June 2024. Publication: March 2025. Category: report

This report was written within the framework of the project "Russia's and China's Influence in Central Asia: Europe's Prospects, Concerns and Search for Balance," funded by the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of the Republic of Estonia. The administrative lead of the project is Elo Süld, Head of the Asia Centre at the University of Tartu. The scientific lead of the project is Alevtina Solovyeva, Head of the Centre for Oriental Studies at the University of Tartu.

The views and opinions expressed in this report are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the official policy or position of the affiliated institutions or funders. The authors are solely responsible for any errors or omissions.

University of Tartu Ülikooli 18, Tartu 50090, Estonia



### Authors

**Alevtina Solovyeva** (PhD) is the Head of the Centre for Oriental Studies and Mongolian Research Laboratory at the University of Tartu. She specializes in Asian studies, Chinese and Mongolian studies, folklore studies, historical and social anthropology, and social sciences. She is the principal investigator of the project.

**Alina Oprelianska** (PhD) is a Junior Research Fellow in Folkloristics at the Centre for Oriental Studies and the Department of Folklore at Taras Shevchenko National University of Kyiv. Her research focuses on fairy tale studies, with a particular emphasis on gender aspects, customary law, folk beliefs, and narratives.

**Betti Marie Peterson** (MA) is a Research Specialist in Folklore and Asian Studies at the Centre for Oriental Studies. She conducts research for the ongoing project mapping Russian and Chinese influences in Central Asia and works for advancing Korean topics as well as furthering connections with Korean research institutions.

**Carl Frederick Liles** (MA) is a Research Specialist in Political Sciences and Central Asian Studies at the Centre for Oriental Studies. He conducts research for the ongoing project, focusing on regional relations, border conflicts and dynamics of internal and international policies of Central Asian countries.

**Danila Rygovskiy** (PhD) is a Research Fellow in Ethnology at the Centre for Oriental Studies at the University of Tartu. His work focuses on the growing role of religious practices and church leadership among Old Believers, with a particular emphasis on Old Believer communities in Estonia and Siberia.

**Helen Haas** (PhD) is the Middle East coordinator at the University of Tartu Asia Centre and a researcher at the Faculty of Theology. As a scholar of religion, she explores Islamic minority groups and the significance of religion in everyday life.

**Ismet Suleimanov** (MA) is a Junior Research Fellow in Folkloristics at the Centre for Oriental Studies at the University of Tartu. His research focuses on memory and genocide studies, particularly collective traumas in the post-socialist space and human rights issues in Central Asia.

**Jonathan Darvish-Kojori** (BA) is a Bachelor Student at the Institute of Cultural Studies at the University of Tartu. He studies ethnology, literature, and Finno-Ugric linguistics.

**Mari Valdur** (PhD) is a Research Fellow in Social Anthropology at the Centre for Oriental Studies at the University of Tartu. She specializes in Central Asian studies, with a particular focus on Mongolia and biopolitics.

**Reyhaneh Ghoroghchian** (MA) is a Junior Research Fellow in Religious Studies at the Centre for Oriental Studies at the University of Tartu. Her research focuses on marginalized communities and their resilience amid social and economic changes.

**Rodion Krupin** (MA) is a Research Assistant and Communications Manager at the Centre for Oriental Studies at the University of Tartu. He specializes in Japanese studies, international relations, and contemporary politics in the Asian region.

**Vladimir Sazonov** (PhD) is an Associate Professor of Ancient Near Eastern Studies at the Centre for Oriental Studies at the University of Tartu. His research focuses on politics, (cultural) history, and security issues, with an emphasis on the Middle Eastern history, affairs, and modern Russia. He is a key senior research staff.

### Contents

Authors	.1
About the report	3
Introduction	4
Common features of Central Asian countries	5
The rise of authoritarianism and the decline of democracy in Central Asia	5
Corruption in Central Asia	6
Human rights and related issues in Central Asia	6
Security challenges in Central Asia	8
Environmental challenges in Central Asia1	11
Players in Central Asia1	2
Central Asia, networks, dispositions, perspectives1	2
Interests and activities of the People's Republic of China in the region1	3
Russian interests and activities in the region1	5
Turkish interests and activities in the region1	17
US interests and activities in the region1	8
Interests of the European Union1	9
Energy and mineral resources in Central Asia	0
Kazakhstan2	0
Uzbekistan	0
Turkmenistan	0
Tajikistan2	0
Kyrgyzstan	0
Energy security	21
EU and Estonian interests and opportunities in the region	21
Sources and references	3

### About the report

This report provides an overview of the developments, processes, challenges and threats in Central Asia and the wider region around it – including terrorism, the rise of extremist Islamism, the deepening of authoritarian tendencies, human rights violations, erosion of democratic institutions and values, as well as environmental and climatic challenges. The region-wide threats addressed in this report include the information influence operations of the Russian Federation (hereinafter 'RF') and the geopolitical rise of the People's Republic of China (hereinafter 'PRC') in the region, as well as the hybrid activities of the Islamic Republic of Iran.

In addition, this report provides an overview of the geostrategic, economic and other interests and activities of the major players in the region, such as China, the US, the EU, Turkey and the RF. With Chinese investment and influence in Central Asia on the rise, the PRC's interests in the region continue to grow; however, the RF persists in its efforts to assert its influence in the region, which in recent years has been steadily in decline.

This report analyses each of the Central Asian countries, highlighting ongoing processes within each state, their domestic politics, regional and international relations. Relevant international and regional organisations to which the Central Asian states belong are also examined.

### Introduction

Central Asia is a strategic region for various significant global powers such as the US, China, the EU, as well as regional actors like the RF, Iran, and Turkey. Global interest in the region centres on Central Asia's transit routes, mineral and energy resources, and trade opportunities.

In many ways, Central Asia represents a buffer between the West and the East, with their often conflicting political, social, ideological values and models. The geography, natural resources, and population of the Central Asian region offer considerable potential for economic and strategic development and cooperation in various sectors. Central Asia is also a key region in the current global geopolitical context, with access to other important and problematic regions like Afghanistan, the Caucasus, and the Caspian Sea region. At the same time, Central Asia faces several serious challenges in the political, social, economic, and security sectors, thus becoming an area of enormous opportunities, but also threats. For all interested parties, a presence in the region through engagement and cooperation with the Central Asian states will determine prospective global political balance and opportunities as well as the future of the Central Asian states themselves.

Central Asia is both historically and at present strongly connected and aligned with Russia, China and Turkey. However, the Central Asian states have in recent years increased efforts to distance themselves from their more oppressive neighbours, which in turn provides the EU with renewed prospects in building and strengthening ties with the region. At the same time, Central Asian countries can be characterised by protracted transitions, distinctive authoritarian regimes, and clan systems, which make cooperation with the West and democratic reform more difficult and riskier. Moreover, insecurity and instability in the region make the struggle for achieving dominance in the region crucial, yet more challenging for external powers.

The countries of Central Asia have extremely weak internal integration, based on complex problems stemming from the holdover institutional legacies of the USSR, numerous ongoing conflicts and other political, social, and cultural factors that divide their societies into groups with different interests and means for attaining their own goals. However, efforts towards internal cooperation, mainly initiated by Kazakhstan as one of the leading and more developed countries in the region, can be seen in attempts to establish Central Asian cooperation platforms such as the CA(E)U 2007-2024.

The lack of independent internal consolidation among the Central Asian states draws them, together with the wider region, into various alliances and initiatives

with strong political agendas from outside. Russian, Chinese, Turkey's and Western countries' involvement in these integration policies is often limited to humanitarian, human rights, and global society initiatives (such as the World Bank).

Notably:

- Russia/China through international treaties: CIS, CSTO, EAEU, SCO, BRI, OSCE, CICA, UN.
- Forums/organisational structures to the exclusion of Russia: OTS (Turkey), C5 (China).
- Ties with the West: C5+1 (US, Germany, EU), UN, OSCE.

Cooperation, integration, internal and external developments, and individual and group networking within Central Asia are some of the key points for strengthening the presence of the EU and its individual member states in this important geopolitical region.

### **Common features of Central Asian countries**

# The rise of authoritarianism and the decline of democracy in Central Asia

Since 2022, Central Asian governments have significantly strengthened the various degrees of their authoritarian rule, often by adopting laws restricting freedom of expression and civil initiatives, suppressing demonstrations, and reinforcing already widespread censorship. Previously an island of democracy and freedom of expression in the region, the government of Kyrgyzstan has taken several steps towards authoritarian rule in recent years. Although Western interest in Central Asia has also increased since the invasion of Ukraine by the RF, the current governments in the region still look to Russia as a model to consolidate their hold on power in their respective domestic spheres. For instance, following Russia's example, Kyrgyzstan and Kazakhstan have adopted the Foreign Agents Law, which obliges all non-profit and civic organisations receiving financial support from abroad to register as foreign agents; in Kazakhstan, activists and journalists who peacefully participated in mass demonstrations in January 2022 are still detained. In all Central Asian countries, numerous popular social media channels are banned, although many local users continue to use their services through VPNs. The banning of social media platforms has (in theory) secured the government's exclusive control over the state's information space, as what remains of independent media in Kyrgyzstan is now increasingly regulated and censored by Kyrgyzstan's government.

### **Corruption in Central Asia**

Corruption is present and widespread in the political landscape of Central Asia, as it continues to be a persistent problem throughout the region. According to the Corruption Perceptions Index (CPI), corruption in all Central Asian states is much higher than the world average.

The fight against corruption is ostensibly an important issue for all Central Asian governments, but in reality, anti-corruption campaigns are primarily used to suppress the opposition. Widespread media censorship and government suppression of freedom of expression also contribute to the problem (Lee-Jones 2021).

Another prominent regional issue are infrastructure development projects, which see large movements of funds and are plagued by the opacity of government transactions. These infrastructure projects often involve the interests of Chinese companies and government, as well as those of the IMF. In addition to Chinese and IGO investment, all Central Asian countries have projects planned or underway in collaboration with the RF in developing both fossil fuel and renewable energy infrastructure (Mitrova 2024). Many of these projects are majority-owned by companies connected to RF oligarchs, and have been used to circumvent sanctions against the RF: e.g. control of the Gazil gas storage development worth \$850 million was transferred to an obscure offshore company owned by an Uzbek politician with business ties to RF tycoon Gennady Timchenko (Radio Free Europe 2024).

### Human rights and related issues in Central Asia

In its Global Human Rights Report 2022/23, Amnesty International outlined the global decline of democracy, highlighting a growing trend of authoritarian practices and ideas, and increasing restrictions on fundamental freedoms around the world. Human Rights Watch categorised Central Asian governments as authoritarian, pointing to controls on freedom of expression and assembly, the detention of critics, and the failure to recognise and address widespread human rights abuses (e.g. torture and domestic violence).

None of the Central Asian countries are members of the International Criminal Court (ICC) and are therefore outside of its jurisdiction, which allows them to maintain relations with individuals and countries under international sanctions. The long-standing ties of the Central Asian states with the RF have a strong regional influence: although the Central Asian states have been independent since 1991, the political elites continue to follow the example of the RF to consolidate their position of power. Restrictions on human rights and freedom of expression have become prevalent in Kyrgyzstan as well, where in the years since President Sadyr Japarov's

ascension to power in 2020, the government has moved to impose controls on both state-owned and independent media outlets, as well as NGOs with foreign ties. In April 2024, Japarov signed a Foreign Agents Law law modelled on the RF legislation, which, among other things, obliges non-profit organisations to report to the government in detail regarding their activities (CPJ 2024). In addition, in 2021, Japarov enacted the controversial disinformation law, which allowed the government to shut down websites of news publications without a court order (CPJ 2021).

Across the region, authorities have increased their control over all public criticism and peaceful dissent. In 2023, Kazakhstan adopted a law on 'fake news', which provides legal tools to censor opposition, while other countries in the region are constantly amending existing media laws to adapt them to each regime's respective interests. The tactic of applying existing legislation has also been used. Following the example of the Foreign Agents Law of the RF, in Kazakhstan, the necessary amendments were made to the tax law to allow the state to keep a register of civil society organisations and individuals who receive support from abroad for information gathering, analysis, and dissemination activities. In 2023, the Kazakh authorities published a list of 240 natural and legal persons, including their personal data. The list included mainly organisations receiving financial support from the West, while individuals and organisations associated with the media of the Russian Federation were excluded (Transparency International 2023). Central Asian legislation now also more strictly regulates peaceful protests, obliging the cessation of street assemblies, demonstrations, marches, etc. In Kazakhstan, for example, activists and journalists who peacefully participated in mass protests in January 2022 are still being persecuted and detained.

Religious practice outside state-sanctioned organisations is prohibited and severely punished in several Central Asian states. For example, Uzbek student Sardor Rakhmankulov was sentenced to five years in prison in January for sharing an Islamic song on social media; in 2022, the crackdown on Islamists from the religious minority group in the Gorno-Badakhshan Autonomous Oblast escalated with measures such as destruction of religious symbols, closure of places of worship, and a ban on religious festivals.

The process of criminalising domestic violence has been slow in the region, but to date domestic violence has been criminalised in all Central Asian states, except for Turkmenistan and Tajikistan. In Kazakhstan, domestic violence was criminalised only recently, after the widely covered death of Saltanat Nukenova, who was beaten to death by her husband. Under the new provisions, Nukenova's husband, former Economy Minister Kuandyk Bishimbayev, was sentenced to 24 years of imprisonment. Despite legislative changes, human rights activists question how far

the impact will be felt in rural areas, where resources for the prevention of domestic violence are low.

In 2023, the Committee on the Elimination of Racial Discrimination (CERD) expressed deep concern about the situation in the Gorno-Badakhshan Autonomous Oblast in Tajikistan, in particular regarding the treatment of the Pamir minority. The use of force against demonstrators has been reported, followed by internet shutdowns and violent attacks. The Pamir minority has faced arbitrary detention, threats and harassment. CERD stressed that despite the adoption of the Law on Equality and Discrimination in Tajikistan, Pamirs continue to face discrimination. The legislation fails to protect the Pamiris on the grounds that the authorities deny their ethnic and linguistic identity. The government continues to try to assimilate the Pamiri population by suppressing their language and cultural expressions in various aspects of society.

In 2020, Human Rights Watch reported in relation to the COVID-19 pandemic that "the Turkmen government denies the existence of poverty in the country and has failed to provide assistance to economically vulnerable groups". Turkmenistan is a closed country, where it is particularly difficult to verify data provided by the state and to conduct reliable surveys. Turkmenistan is not included in the Global Gender Inequality Report and the UN notes that by 2020 only about a fifth of the indicators needed to assess the SDGs were available, with significant gaps in key areas including violence against women and the gender pay gap.

In Uzbekistan, same-sex consensual sexual activity between men is criminalised with imprisonment of up to three years, leading to the arbitrary detention, prosecution, and imprisonment of gay and bisexual men and transgender people by the authorities. LGBT people face constant discrimination and harassment from both state and non-state entities. For example, the Uzbek police have used forced anal examinations to prosecute homosexual men for consensual same-sex relationships, despite the World Health Organisation identifying such examinations as a form of violence and torture.

### Security challenges in Central Asia

This chapter will provide an overview of security threats in Central Asia (e.g. domestic and outside terrorist groups), as well as examining Chinese and Russian military presences in the region. Central Asian states' cooperation with other outside actors such as the UN will also be discussed.

## RF's military presence in Central Asia and cooperation with the Central Asian states

Russia's military presence in Central Asia and the threats associated with it play a

major role in determining power structures and strategic interests throughout the area. Richard E. Hoagland et al. (2021) noted that "the main security objective of the RF in Central Asia is to maintain Russia's dominant position in the Central Asian defence sector by maintaining Russia's military presence." The RF usually achieves these objectives under the auspices of the Collective Security Treaty Organization (CSTO). The Kremlin also takes into consideration security threats such as drug trafficking and Islamic extremism originating from its southern border, and the RF seeks to mitigate these threats through continued security cooperation and information sharing with Central Asia governments. Continued close security ties between Russia and Central Asia will also help to prevent a decline in Russia's influence in Central Asia in favour of China.

#### Kazakhstan

Kazakhstan, the largest country in the region, has always been a focus of interest for the RF, because the RF and Kazakhstan share a long border (7644 km). Military cooperation between the RF and Kazakhstan is quite close and has been so since Kazakhstan gained independence in 1991. However, there is a noticeable repositioning of Kazakhstan's interests towards China, with security cooperation with China being a growing trend. Kazakhstan aims to mitigate the RF's military presence in the region as well as its influence on the region's security policies (that is especially the case after 2022, when the RF attacked Ukraine). At the same time, Kazakhstan wishes to contain growing Chinese influence, to avoid becoming dependent on either of its biggest neighbours. Although Kazakhstan is a member of both the CSTO and the SCO, the CSTO retains the status of Kazakhstan's main defence institution.

Kazakhstan does not host any Russian military bases, however, it has several sites of military importance, such as the Sary Shagan ballistic missile test site and the Baikonur Cosmodrome, which they lease out to the RF. The RF, as the official successor to the Soviet Union, has retained control of this facility since 1991, and originally assumed this role through the post-Soviet Commonwealth of Independent States (CIS). In 2005, the RF ratified an agreement with Kazakhstan, allowing Russia to lease the space platform until 2050. It is jointly operated by Roskosmos and the Russian Air Force. However, on 7 March 2023, the Kazakh government seized control of the Baiterek launch complex, one of the launch sites of the Baikonur Cosmodrome. The main reason for the takeover was RF's failure to repay a \$29.7 million debt to the Kazakh government. However, it is also important to remember that the confiscation took place after the souring of RF's relations with Kazakhstan following Russia's full-scale invasion of Ukraine on 24 February 2022. Before 2022, the RF and Kazakhstan regularly conducted military exercises together under the CSTO. Kazakhstan is the second largest military contributor to the organisation after Russia, sending the most troops to collective military units with Russia. As a member of the CSTO, Kazakhstan can purchase RF's armaments at the same prices as the RF military, share air cover, and form joint units with Russia.

#### Kyrgyzstan

The RF's Kant military airbase is located in Kyrgyzstan, about 20 km east of Bishkek. It is home to the 999th Air Base of the Russian Air Force. According to the agreement signed between the RF and Kyrgyzstan in 2003, the Kant airbase houses units of the RF's Air Force. The official opening of the airbase took place on 23 October 2003. In 2012, the Kant Air Base, the Naval Weapons Testing Base in Karakol, the Communications Centre in Chaldebar, and the Seismology Centre were merged into a single unit and designated as the Common Military Base of the RF. In December 2012, the Kyrgyz government agreed to lease the base to Russia for a period of 15 years (with an automatic extension option for another 5 years) after the Kremlin agreed to reduce Kyrgyzstan's debt by USD 500 million. As of 2023, the RF's troops at the airbase will be equipped with Su-25SM ground support aircraft, Mi-8MTV5-1 helicopters, Orlan-10 UAVs, military police and military traffic police units, and additional military air support functions.

#### Uzbekistan

Military cooperation between the RF and Uzbekistan is based on the Treaty of Friendship and Cooperation signed on 30 May 1992. Under the first President of Uzbekistan, Islam Karimov (1989-1991 General Secretary of the Communist Party; 1991-2016 President), Uzbekistan distanced itself from security relations with the RF. The new president (in power since 2016) Shavkat Mirziyoyev changed this policy in 2018, when the RF and Uzbekistan held the first joint military exercises since 2005. Since then, Uzbekistan has participated in bilateral and multilateral military exercises with the RF. In 2016, Uzbekistan and the RF signed an agreement allowing Uzbekistan to purchase Russian arms at the same price as the Russian military. In 2018, Uzbekistan signed a contract with the RF for 12 Mi-8 attack helicopters, armoured personnel carriers, as well as Su-30SM fighter aircraft. Since the revival of Russian-Uzbek defence relations under Mirziyoyev, the Kremlin has played a major role in re-supplying Uzbekistan with military equipment. Although Uzbekistan withdrew from the CSTO in 2012, it is considering returning to the organisation.

In the early 2000's, the RF started supplying Uzbekistan with small arms, sniper rifles, light machine guns, night vision equipment, ammunition, spare parts for armoured vehicles, etc. In contrast to previous experience, this involved domestic equipment production in, the Chkalov Aircraft Production Company in Tashkent, which had previously been central to the production of the modern Russian air transport aircraft IL-76 and its modifications, which form the backbone of modern Russian air transport aviation. At an early stage, the Chkalov plant carried out

maintenance work on IL-76 aircraft and assembled IL-78 tanker aircraft under a Russian-Indian contract. UzRosAvia was a Russian-Uzbek joint venture established under intergovernmental agreements signed in 2007 in Tashkent. The joint venture's facilities are located in a machine and repair workshop in Chirchik, Tashkent region, and the UzRosAvia is equipped to maintain Mi-type attack helicopters. In 2017, Uzbekistan and the RF signed an agreement on advancing military and technical cooperation, which provided mutual supply of military equipment, maintenance of weapons and systems, military and technical assistance, research and development.

#### Tajikistan

After the collapse of the USSR, the RF took over the defence of the Tajik-Afghan border. Russia handed over to the Tajik authorities 13 military camps, 64 border posts and command posts, as well as weapons and military equipment. In 2004, a Russian land military base was established in Tajikistan (based on the 201st Motorised Infantry Division Gachina). The base has about 7,000 troops, the largest military contingent of the RF abroad. In 2014, a joint programme for modernisation of the Tajik armed forces was signed, under which Russia provided Tajikistan with military-technical services worth approximately USD 1.23 billion. As of 2015, the Russian army has been engaged in training the Tajik military: every year, approximately 500 Tajik soldiers are trained on Russian territory. On 12.08.2021, during the events in neighbouring Afghanistan (the return of the Taliban to power), Moscow allocated USD 1.1 million for the construction of a border post in the Khatlon region, and subsequently organised military exercises. The same year (2021), the RF and Tajikistan ratified an agreement on the establishment of a unified regional air defence system which has become integral to the CIS's common air defence system. From the 3<sup>rd</sup> to the 7<sup>th</sup> of April 2023, joint RF-Tajikistan military exercises took place in the Khatlon region of Tajikistan (at the Kharb-Maydon mountainous desert training area near the border with Afghanistan). On 22 November 2023, as a part of establishing a common air defence system for the CSTO countries, Russia handed over two divisions of the S-300 system to Tajikistan.

### Environmental challenges in Central Asia

For the countries of Central Asia, climate change is now a fact of daily life with real consequences. Central Asia is more vulnerable to climate change than Western countries due to its poor socio-economic situation (DARA Climate Vulnerable Forum 2010), however, the situation is further complicated by the obsolescence of existing infrastructure, changes in the water regime, and the economic dependence of Uzbekistan, Kazakhstan and Turkmenistan on the production and use of fossil fuels.

The challenges posed by climate change are already having a real impact on domestic and foreign policies. For example, Uzbekistan, which used to be a net

exporter of natural gas itself, was forced to buy Russian natural gas to survive several years of very cold and long winters (Putz 2024). Due to rising domestic fuel consumption during colder months and increasing global fuel prices, Kazakhstan has stopped subsidising domestic fuel sales to reduce growing state budget deficit. (AI Jazeera 2022). In Tajikistan, food security is becoming a major problem as overgrazing, over-cultivation, inefficient land and water use, and long periods of drought and severe storms caused by climate change have led to increased erosion, landslides, floods, and desertification. Melting glaciers in Tajikistan (which has the world's largest glaciers outside the polar regions) are also affecting water levels in rivers. Now, flooding due to the abundance of meltwater is the main concern, but in the longer term, Central Asian countries (especially Uzbekistan and Kazakhstan) would face water scarcity instead. In addition, health problems caused by air pollution from coal mining and burning are a major concern in Kazakhstan and Kyrgyzstan.

### **Players in Central Asia**

### Central Asia, networks, dispositions, perspectives

The main players in the region (the US, China, Turkey, RF, and the EU) have both common and state-specific objectives in Central Asia. Common objectives include security, economic interests, and the balancing of powers on the geopolitical map. In maintaining their presence and influence in the region, the main actors also import their own values to Central Asia, some of which can be very different – imperialism, communism, democracy, liberal ideologies, ideals of civil and religious society, different economic models and, of course, practical interests.

All the main actors use a multilateral approach for maintaining influence in Central Asia, with common and distinctive features based on historical, geographical, and social values or ethical backgrounds. Partnerships and extensive multilateral networks, investments, military presence, and the development of media/information ecosystems are the most common areas and forms of influence. To understand the power dynamics within the region, trends in relations between the main external actors as well as their attitudes towards local issues in Central Asia should also be examined. Considering existing differences in perceptions, interests, and values, the East and the West often clash with one-another in the region, however, as no state has achieved hegemonic status within Central Asia, a certain tolerance and willingness to negotiate is necessary for maintaining a presence in the region.

The external powers hold differing attitudes towards the Central Asian states themselves. Western countries are looking for a strong regional partner to cooperate with and invest in (in this sense, Kazakhstan and Uzbekistan are the leaders among the Central Asian countries), and in addition to official cooperation, Western countries and various international organisations make general donations of aid to the region. China's strategy mainly centres around investing into infrastructure projects in the smaller countries in the region, thus ensuring greater degrees of dependency of these states on China. The RF seeks to keep all Central Asian states under control, without allowing any one entity to grow in power and influence. While the RF and China have little interest in national agendas in the region, Turkey is actively building its presence as a collector and defender of the Turkish and Islamic world (Organisation of Turkic States (OTS)).

### Interests and activities of the People's Republic of China in the region

China's interests in Central Asia have a long history, dating back to the beginnings of the Chinese Empire. The famous Silk Road from China to Europe passed through Central Asia, which for centuries was the most important trading centre between Europe and Asia. Recent developments show China's growing influence both globally and on regional levels around the world. Central Asia is one of the strategic regions where Beijing is seeking to expand and increase its influence not only on the local politics, economy, and culture, but now also in the defence and military sectors.

After the collapse of the Soviet Union, Central Asia became a new important market for China. Central Asia's geographical proximity to China (which shares a border with Kazakhstan, Kyrgyzstan and Tajikistan) makes the region a priority interest for China. Accordingly, Chinese influence in the region has grown significantly, making China the most important economic partner for Central Asian economies. Chinese investments into the region have also become a significant source of foreign direct investment with many local projects relying on Chinese capital. Although Chinese investments help create jobs, construct new factories, schools, etc., they also increase local authorities' reliance on China. The People's Republic of China is already putting pressure on Central Asian politicians, for instance, insisting on Central Asian states to recognise Taiwan as part of the People's Republic of China, not as an independent state. In addition, for China, Central Asia is a kind of buffer zone between unstable Afghanistan and the Xinjiang Uyghur Autonomous Region, and seeks to cultivate the Central Asian states as partners in combating religious extremism and suppressing Muslim minorities in Xinjiang.

The Central Asian states are also part of the Shanghai Cooperation Organisation. One of China's primary objectives in the region is to curb RF's influence in the region. As a platform for exporting Chinese influence through funding infrastructure projects, the Belt and Road Initiative (BRI) has a major impact in Central Asia. The BRI includes the Silk Road Economic Belt - an intercontinental passage linking China to Southeast Asia, South Asia, Central Asia, the West and Europe by land; it also envisages a 21st century Maritime Silk Road linking China's coastal regions to Southeast and South Asia, the South Pacific, the Middle East, East Africa and Europe. The official aim of this initiative is improving regional integration, intensifying trade and stimulating economic growth, and promoting transnational security, which in addition to economic hegemony, would also legitimise China's military presence in various parts of the BRI for 'security-related reasons'.

Over the past 10 years, China has strengthened new diplomatic, economic, security and military ties in Central Asia and gained access to abundant natural resources. China's choice is strategically motivated and largely concerns economically weaker and more unstable states (e.g. Tajikistan, Turkmenistan and Afghanistan). With the aim of protecting its economic interests and ambitions (including the BRI and the China-Pakistan Economic Corridor (CPEC)), China has set up military bases in Tajikistan and, after the withdrawal of US troops, in Afghanistan as well, for the reason of securing a certain stability in the region. The Chinese Foreign Minister, Wang Yi, also met with the Taliban Foreign Minister in Kabul in 2022.

Subsequently, Chinese companies have begun investing in Afghanistan. In 2023, several multi-million-dollar investment agreements were signed between China and Afghanistan, becoming the first significant foreign investment since the Taliban took power in 2021. At the 5th China-Afghanistan-Pakistan Foreign Ministers' Meeting in Islamabad in 2023, the Foreign Ministers of Pakistan, China and Afghanistan emphasised the importance of trilateral cooperation for achieving a "stable, prosperous and peaceful Afghanistan that serves the interests of the entire region." They reiterated their commitment to the expansion of CPEC to include Afghanistan and stressed the importance of existing regional connectivity projects such as CASA-1000, the Turkmenistan-Afghanistan-Pakistan-India gas pipeline and the Afghanistan Transit Railway for regional connectivity. In the light of these developments, Russia's prospects in the region do not seem as optimistic as the Kremlin would like.

China is also interested in Central Asia because of its abundance of natural resources like natural gas and oil. In addition, as in the era of the Silk Road, Central Asia is an important hub between China and Europe. It is likely that China's influence in the region will continue to grow, and China will seek to further integrate the countries of Central Asia and make their economies more dependent on China, at the same time undermining RF's position of regional power. While China has previously ensured its security interests through the Shanghai Cooperation Organisation and relied heavily on the RF's military presence, the strategy has now changed.

It is no coincidence that Chinese money has been used to set up a base in Tajikistan, close to the China-Afghanistan border, which officially belongs to the Tajik army, but is, in fact, a subject to Chinese interests. The governments of China and Tajikistan signed an agreement to build several border guard posts and a training centre on the Afghan border. Chinese armed militia units are also positioned in the region. Although China's main interests in Afghanistan concern the prevention of possible spread of terrorism into Chinese territory, it is likely for China to establish military bases there to establish itself militarily in the region. It is important to remember that at the same time, RF troops are stationed in Tajikistan.

Since 2002, China has been organising joint military exercises in Central Asia, some of which have taken place based on bilateral agreements, others within the framework of the Shanghai Cooperation Organisation. In addition, China provides military assistance to Central Asian countries. Although no official details are available, public sources indicate substantial expenditure: for example, Kyrgyzstan received USD 16 million in 2014 for modernisation of weaponry, and a further USD 14 million in 2017. Kazakhstan has also received around 5 million USD as well as military equipment. Tajikistan has received the most aid from China. In addition, China is one of the world's largest arms exporters and sells arms to Central Asian countries such as Uzbekistan, Kazakhstan and Tajikistan.

The Central Asian countries' dependence on China is increasing and is a continuous process. From the Chinese side, the share of imports is around 0.8% and exports 0.9%, while for Central Asian states the proportions are much higher, with exports reaching up to 22% of GDP and imports even higher. In addition, China's export of soft power (promotion and dissemination of Chinese language, culture, values, etc.) to Central Asia also plays an important role in securing Chinese interests in the region. The number of Chinese workers in the region has also increased.

#### Russian interests and activities in the region

Russia has long-standing historical-cultural and economic-political ties and interests in Central Asia but remains a secondary but still important player compared to China. Of the three regional centres of power, the RF has by far the best infrastructure and networks in Central Asia, with Moscow having political, economic, military, information channels of influence in the region. Some of these are more visible and have official status, such as the CIS, the Collective Security Treaty Organisation, the Eurasian Economic Union.

Oil, gas, and water pipelines and energy systems, industry and technology support are other dependency mechanisms linking Central Asia to Russia. However, the slow development of local industry and the infrastructure and technology underlying industrial growth are mostly inherited from the USSR. Much of this infrastructure has now surpassed its intended lifetime, and the Russian industrial foothold in the region is set to decline. Some crucial instruments of the RF's influence are nevertheless much more subtle: ties of the ruling class to the Kremlin have carefully been cultivated by past and present regimes. In this context, authoritarian tendencies in Central Asian states result from historical conditions and political developments. Until recently, this strategy has been quite successful, but in recent years, the Central Asian states have started to work towards reducing their reliance on the RF, for example, in 2022, Kazakhstan refused the RF's request for military aid in support of the Kremlin's invasion of Ukraine. In general, after RF's military invasion of Ukraine on the 24th of February 2022, Central Asian states (especially the economically stronger ones) have been aiming to distance themselves from Russia.

However, this process is quite slow and difficult, as the old ties to the RF are still in place and recent factors continue to influence the internal politics of the Central Asian states. This includes the intensification of trade between Russia and Central Asia, EU sanctions and bans on goods from Central Asia and Turkey, intensive migration from Russia to Central Asia, and the growing demand for migrant workers in Russia despite the increase in racism, xenophobia, and persecution towards Central Asian migrants after the terrorist attack at the Krasnogorsk Crocus City Hall in the Moscow Region in March 2024.

Even though historical, cultural, political and other ties with the West still play an important role in the Central Asian region, they are significantly weaker in comparison to Chinese and Russian influence. Given Russia's economic and technological challenges, the Kremlin attaches great importance to its military presence, e.g. the 201st Russian military base in Tajikistan, which officially hosts at least 7,000 Russian troops. In addition, the RF regards Central Asia as a crucial security buffer zone offering protection from unstable Afghanistan and Pakistan (including the threat of Islamist terrorism in the form of ISIS-K and others), but also from the growing influence of China.

The Kremlin has recently made notable efforts to maintain its influence in Central Asia. The most favourable scenario for the RF would be to turn the Central Asian countries into satellite states and reduce the influence of other major players (China, US, EU) in the region. Although the RF is competing with China for influence in Central Asia, its historical, cultural, political and economic ties to the region remain strong. In addition to the Soviet and even Russian Empire's historic, cultural and economic heritage, Russian language still maintains its position as lingua franca in Kazakhstan, Kyrgyzstan and Tajikistan. As much as Russia is still an important economic partner for the Central Asian states, they are also vital trading partners for Moscow with trade turnover between the RF and Central Asia being USD 25.8 billion in 2018. The struggle for dominance in the Central Asian region between

China and the RF is largely based on the overall strategic functions that Russia and China have established within the region.

The RF has established itself as the main guarantor of security of Central Asia's borders and as a formidable military power, while China has gained influence through major investments into transit and energy infrastructure as well as exporting soft power.

### Turkish interests and activities in the region

Turkey has historically had strong cultural and linguistic ties with all Central Asian countries except Tajikistan. Due to the Iron Curtain, Turkey's relations with and political and economic influence in Central Asia was minimal, if not non-existent up to the fall of the Soviet Union in 1991 after which Turkey became the first country to recognize the independence of the new republics and establish diplomatic relations. This swift response was driven by a desire to support these new states in securing their place on the international stage, as well as by an effort to help them move out of Russia's direct sphere of influence and advance Turkey's own interests in the region. To this end, numerous cooperation agreements were signed in areas such as education, culture, economy, trade, transport, and politics. Although Turkey initially viewed the region as a single entity, over time, it became evident that these countries are quite distinct from each other, leading to a more state-based approach in developing bilateral cooperation.

Turkey's main interests in the region include political stability, combating Islamic terrorism, trade and investment, transport and logistics, as well as accessing the region's rich natural resources, particularly oil and natural gas. Turkey has been striving to diversify its energy sources, and Central Asia has emerged as one of the alternatives. Initially, Turkey approached the region from the perspective of an elder brother, but as this approach proved ineffective over time, Turkey has sought to move away from this image and instead develop bilateral strategic partnerships with each country in various fields. Central Asian countries have also shown interest in Turkey's defence industry, particularly drone production. In 2022, Turkey signed a cooperation agreement with Kazakhstan for drone manufacturing.

The primary organization promoting unity among Turkic-speaking nations and facilitating multilateral cooperation is the Organization of Turkic States (OTS), founded in 2009. The organization includes Azerbaijan, Kazakhstan, Kyrgyzstan, Turkey, and Uzbekistan as full members, while Turkmenistan, Hungary, and the Turkish Republic of Northern Cyprus participate as observer states. In 2021, the Turkic World Vision 2040 was adopted to enhance cooperation in economy, energy, technology, digitalization, sustainable agriculture, culture, and religion. Another important organization fostering cultural collaboration is the International Organization of Turkic Culture (TURKSOY), established in 1993. TURKSOY's vision is

to promote fraternity and solidarity among Turkic peoples, pass on Turkic cultural heritage to new generations, and introduce it to the world. The organization has initiated the Cultural Capital of the Turkic World designation (since 2012) and the Turkvision Song Contest (since 2013).

Straight after the collapse of the Soviet Union, Turkey established the Turkish Cooperation and Coordination Agency (TİKA) to provide developmental assistance to Central Asian countries. Through TİKA, numerous projects have been implemented in education, healthcare, restoration, agriculture, finance, tourism, and industrial development. TİKA presents itself as the representative of the Turkish model of development cooperation, emphasizing sincerity and transparency. Additionally, Turkey provides various scholarships for studying in Turkey. Until 2016, the network of private schools associated with the Gülen movement represented Turkey's educational soft power in Central Asia. Since then, Turkey has undertaken diplomatic efforts worldwide, including in Central Asia, to transfer these schools to the Maarif Foundation, established in 2016. Religious cooperation is fostered both through OTS and the Presidency of Religious Affairs (Diyanet). Diyanet aims to provide religious services not only to the Turkish diaspora in various countries but also to fraternal nations. Each Turkish embassy in Turkic-speaking Central Asian countries has a Diyanet representative.

Turkey's trade with Central Asia has been gradually increasing over the years. In 2022, exports to Central Asia accounted for 8.31% of Turkey's total exports, while imports from the region made up 7.06% of total imports. In 2019, these figures stood at 6.53% and 6.34%, respectively. The trade volume between Turkey and Central Asian countries has also shown a growing trend. In 2019, Turkey's trade volume with the region was approximately \$8.5 billion, rising to around \$13.2 billion in 2022. As of 2019, about 4,000 Turkish companies were operating in Central Asia.

### US interests and activities in the region

Washington is interested in good relations with the countries of Central Asia, their stability and their independence from China and Russia, as China, the RF together with Iran undermine US interests in the region. The US government has invested heavily in Central Asia's economy, democracy promotion initiatives, and security, totalling some \$9 billion. The US private sector has invested \$31 billion in the region. In addition to economic cooperation, the US aims to curb the influence of China, the RF, as well as Iran. Turkmenistan, Uzbekistan and Tajikistan share a border with Afghanistan, making drug trafficking and terrorism also a problem affecting all the Central Asian countries. Moreover, the RF's recent activities in the region have become a concern for Washington. As a result of these factors and developments, the US has started to pay close attention to Central Asia, as illustrated by the following statement in the US Strategy for Central Asia 2019-2025: "Central Asia is

a geostrategic region that is important to the national security interests of the United States, regardless of the level of US involvement in Afghanistan" (United States Strategy for Central Asia 2019-2025).

Additionally, the document underlines that the Central Asian region has always been a strategic and commercial crossroads between Europe and Asia, for this reason, the US "has a key strategic interest in the region to create a more stable and prosperous Central Asia, free to pursue its political, economic and security interests with a wide range of partners on its own terms; connected to global markets and open to international investment; with strong, democratic institutions, the rule of law and respect for human rights. A stable and secure Central Asia contributes directly to US efforts to combat terrorism, support regional stability, promote energy security, and increase economic prosperity in the region and beyond" (United States Strategy for Central Asia 2019-2025).

### Interests of the European Union

Since the full-scale invasion of Ukraine by the RF, the EU has become more interested in developing trade and transport routes outside the territory of the RF. One such alternative is the Central Corridor (or TITR), which would facilitate transit from China through Central Asia to Europe. In addition to trade, the Central Corridor would provide the EU with access to Central Asian energy resources, such as natural gas, but also a suitable geographic location for the development of hydro-, solar and wind energy (Rizzi 2024).

Recently, the EU has also shown interest in importing natural gas from Turkmenistan and in 2023, Turkmenistan signed its first energy agreement with the EU. This agreement has revived interest in the construction of a trans-Caspian gas pipeline to export Turkmen gas to Europe to diversify the EU's energy supply and reduce dependence on Russian energy exports. (Nelson 2023).

The EU's interest lies not only in expanding economic ties but also in spreading Western values and the rule of law in the region. This would help to create an economic and political environment conducive to investment by Western countries and companies in East Asia and would ensure further reduction of the RF's influence in former USSR states. Cooperation with the EU is also beneficial for the countries of Central Asia themselves, as it would attract European investment, expertise and innovation in strategically important sectors. At present, one of the most significant obstacles to attracting Western investment to the region is its unstable economic situation and opaque governance. The main concerns of European companies relate to corruption and the Central Asian states' abilities in ensuring legal protection of European assets and investments.

### Energy and mineral resources in Central Asia

### Kazakhstan

Main energy sources	Coal 50%, oil 25%, natural gas 24%
Primary energy exports	Oil (75% of total production), coal (30% of total production)
Primary energy imports	Natural gas (from Russia)
Mineral resources, export	Oil, natural gas, coal, uranium, gold
Trade partners	China, Italy, Russia

#### Uzbekistan

Main energy sources	Natural gas 86%, oil 8%, coal 5%
Primary energy exports	Natural gas (6% of total production)
Primary energy imports	Natural gas (from Russia and Turkmenistan)
Mineral resources, export	Gold, copper, uranium, minerals, natural gas, oil
Trade partners	China (US\$ 6 billion), Russia, Kazakhstan, Turkey

### Turkmenistan

Main energy sources	Natural gas 75%, oil 25%
Primary energy exports	Natural gas (70% of total production)
Primary energy imports	Not known
Mineral resources, export	Natural gas, oil, cotton, textiles and carpets
Trade partners	China (83% of total Turkmen exports), Uzbekistan, EU and Turkey (imports)

### Tajikistan

Main energy sources	Hydropower 40%, oil 30%, coal 25%, natural gas 5%
Primary energy exports	Coal, hydropower (seasonal)
Primary energy imports	Oil, coal, natural gas
Mineral resources, export	Gold, dissimilar metals, hydropower potential
Trade partners	Imports from China and Russia, exports to Kazakhstan, Switzerland and China

### Kyrgyzstan

Main energy sources	Hydropower 28%, oil 36%, coal 27%, natural gas 8%
Primary energy exports	Coal, oil, hydropower (seasonal)
Primary energy imports	Not known
Mineral resources, export	Hydropower, gold, etc. precious metals, oil, textiles
Trade partners	Russia (43% of total exports), China (64% of total
	imports), Kazakhstan, Uzbekistan, Turkey

#### **Energy security**

As electricity and fuels are a strategic resource crucial for the functioning of any state and economy, achieving energy independence is essential for the security of Central Asian countries. For Central Asian states, advancing energy security would predominantly consist of upgrading and expanding the electricity grid; building a new, more efficient generation network; diversifying energy sources; developing the renewable energy sector; but also reducing dependence on outside resources. However, as energy infrastructure projects are often large-scale and very costly, Central Asian countries often need to involve foreign investment and companies. Western firms, however, are reluctant to make large investments in Central Asia due to the risks and the uncertainties surrounding economic and private ownership. Moreover, Western companies are generally uninterested in projects relating to fossil fuels, therefore, Western investment in Central Asia is mostly associated with renewable energy projects, which are ill-equipped to reduce the energy shortages currently afflicting the region. Central Asian countries have thus developed close ties with the US and China, which, by investing in natural gas and coal mining, offer quick solutions to the region's pressing energy problems (Mitrova 2024) (Avdalini 2024).

However, the majority of energy companies in the region are majority-owned by the RF and China, which threatens the independence of the Central Asian countries. For instance, in 2023, Tajikistan's state energy company Barki Tojik owed 22.77 billion Rubles to the second largest hydroelectric power plant in Tajikistan, Sangtuda HPP-1, which is majority-owned by the RF, prompting Tajikistan's energy minister to meet with RF Deputy Prime Minister Alexander Novak in October 2023 (Interfax 2023). The risk of being linked to Russian tycoons and the use of off-shore companies is in fact known to the countries of the region (e.g. as revealed in a secret report commissioned by the Uzbek government on the Gazil natural gas field - (Radio Free Europe 2024) but corruption and the lack of alternative solutions make it difficult for Central Asian countries to make major changes in this regard.

# EU and Estonian interests and opportunities in the region

The changing geopolitical situation has provided opportunities for the region to invest in energy infrastructure for facilitating transition to green energy, but the growing involvement of China and the RF increases dependence on external resources and expertise and could therefore undermine the countries' de facto capacity for self-governance. In addition to mitigating the current crisis through 'quick fixes' such as greater use of coal, Central Asian countries need to work on creating a fair and credible economic landscape and transparent governance systems to reduce the current high level of corruption. The US and the EU have already cooperated with various Central Asian countries on energy development programmes, but most Western investments and actions concern future developments without addressing the very real and pressing problems the region is facing today. The RF and China, on the other hand, offer quicker and simpler solutions, with China in particular investing in coal mining in the region.

Cooperation on adaptation to climate change and the transition to renewable energy is certainly one of the most promising prospects for furthering relations between Central Asia and the European Union, as the Central Asian countries themselves are keen to invest in renewables. The EU has an opportunity to offer not only expertise in energy infrastructure and newer, more efficient technologies, but also in fighting corruption and creating transparent government systems and introducing e-governance principles.

Estonia could use its experience of successful transition from the USSR and integration with the EU to provide insights on possible solutions to fight corruption and address other legacies of the Soviet times. A highly qualified workforce and academic research should also be involved in designing and proposing energy policies and solutions, as science-based approaches have proven to be more robust and useful to the wider public.

The countries of Central Asia are increasingly showing interest in improving and strengthening their relations with Western countries to broaden their policy options and find new trade partners. The influence of the RF in the region has declined both economically and politically, and since the RF's invasion of Ukraine, the Central Asian countries have deliberately moved towards diversifying political relations to avoid Western sanctions on the one hand, and to maintain friendly relations with the RF on the other.

The current increase in interest concerning cooperation in the region is a valuable opportunity for the West to establish a high-level diplomatic cooperation with the Central Asian countries to help eliminate human rights abuses and reduce the influence of the RF in the region. Cooperation in the field of education can provide some of the most efficient tools for democratisation and the building of a strong civil society. At present, China (Confucius Institutes) and the RF (Russian-language schools throughout the region) far surpass any Western presence in the Central Asian educational scene. For example, the only place in Tajikistan where mineral mining can currently be studied is in the city of Buston in the region of Shughd, where one of the branches of the Chinese Confucius Institute is located. RF considers the spread of Russian schools in the region to be a key strategy in establishing Russian hegemony in the so-called near abroad and is also a response to the spread of Western soft power in the region (Special Eurasia 2023). The development of educational cooperation contributes to the promotion of Western values by the initiative of the region's own people, rather than because of influence and prescriptions from above, e.g. from the EU or the US. (Mullodjanov 2019).

### Sources and references

- Agadjanian, V. (2020). Exclusion, violence, and optimism: Ethnic divides in Kyrgyzstan. Ethnicities, 20(3), 457–480. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1468796819835657</u>
- Ageeva, V. D. (2021). The Rise and Fall of Russia's Soft Power. Russia in Global Affairs, 19(1), 118–145. https://doi.org/10.31278/1810-6374-2021-19-1-118-145
- Ageeva, V. D. (2022). Global Russians: In Search of Lost Time. Russia in Global Affairs, 20(1), 143– 165. <u>https://doi.org/10.31278/1810-6374-2022-20-1-143-165</u>

Ahn, E. S., & Smagulova, J. (2022). English language choices in Kazakhstan and Kyrgyzstan. World Englishes, 41(1), 9–23. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/weng.12552</u>

- Al Jazeera (2022). Kazakhstan unrest highlights tricky terrain of fuel subsidy cuts", <u>https://www.aljazeera.com/economy/2022/1/13/kazahstan-unrest-highlights-tricky-terrain-of-fuel-subsidy-cuts (</u>Last visit 19.4.2024).
- Avdalini, E. (2024). China Uses Crises to Build Central Asia Influence. CEPA, <u>https://cepa.org/article/china-uses-crises-to-build-central-asia-influence/</u> (Last visit 19.4.2024).

Arpaci, S.; Acar, I.; H. Atli (2011). Improving the pistachio growing in Turkmenistan and Uzbekistan. Acta Horticulturae 912: 327-330. doi:10.17660/ActaHortic.2011.912.47.

ASIA-Plus, veebilehekülg: <u>https://asiaplustj.info/</u>

Assanbayev, M. B., & Hanks, R. R. (2020). Kazakhstan's Russian diaspora: between migration and search of a new identity. The Bulletin, 3(385), 285–297. <u>https://doi.org/10.32014/2020.2518-1467.96</u>

- Basit, A. 2023.Afghanistan-Pakistan's Radical Social Media Ecosystem: Actors, Propaganda Comparison and Implications. <u>https://www.rsis.edu.sg/ctta-newsarticle/afghanistan-pakistans-radical-social-media-ecosystem-actors-propaganda-comparison-and-implications/</u> (Last visit 11.6.2024).
- BBC Persian. https://www.bbc.com/persian/articles/c0dr3pvp74go.amp. (Last visit 1.4.2024).
- Bunzel, C. (2015). From paper state to Caliphate: The ideology of the Islamic state—The brookings project on U.S. Relations with the Islamic world. Analysis paper, No. 19, March. https://www. brookings.edu/wp-content/uploads/2016/06/The-ideology-of-theIslamic-State.pd (Last visit 19.4.2024).

Central Asian Bureau for Analytical Reporting Website: https://cabar.asia/en

CPJ (2024). Kyrgyzstan president signs Russian-style 'foreign agents' law. Kättesaadav: <u>https://cpj.org/2024/04/kyrgyzstan-president-signs-russian-style-foreign-agents-law/</u> (Last visit 1.6.2024).

- CPJ (2021). Kyrgyzstan Parliament approves 'false information' bill. Kättesaadav: <u>https://cpj.org/2021/08/kyrgyzstan-parliament-approves-false-information-bill/</u> (Last visit 17.2.2024).
- Cummings, S. N. 2013. Understanding Central Asia: Politics and Contested Transformations. Routledge.
- Cretti ja van Schaik (2024). Resource curse or darling: rethinking eu energy interests in Kazakhstan. Policy Brief. Clingendael, <u>https://www.clingendael.org/publication/resource-curse-or-darling-rethinking-eu-energy-interests-kazakhstan (</u>Last visit 27.5.2024).
- Dadabaev, Timur. 'Discourses of Rivalry or Rivalry of Discourses: Discursive Strategies and Framing of Chinese and Japanese Foreign Policies in Central Asia'. The Pacific Review 33 no. 1 (2020): 61–95.
- DARA Climate Vulnerable Forum Raport 2010, <u>https://daraint.org/wp-content/uploads/2010/12/CVM-exec-sum-01072011.pdf (Last visit 27.2.2024).</u>
- Dadabaev, T. (2019). Japan's New "Old" Frontier. East-West Center, <u>http://www.jstor.org/stable/resrep21456</u>.
- Degirmen Dysart, B. (2021). The Politics of Russian 'Diaspora': From Compatriots to a Russian World. Turkish Journal of Diaspora Studies, 1(1): 49–63. <u>https://doi.org/10.52241/TJDS.2021.0004</u>
- EBRD (2018). The fiscal implications for Kazakhstan of worldwide transition to a greener global economy." European Bank for Reconstruction and Development. 22 November, <u>https://www.ebrd.com/news/publications/special-reports/the-fiscal-implications-for-kazakhstan-of-worldwide-transition-to-a-greener-global-economy.html</u>. (Last visit 7.3.2024).
- Efegil, E (2008). Turkish AK Party's Central Asia and Caucasus Policies: Critiques and Suggestions." Caucasian Review of International Affairs 2(3): 166-172.
- Evdokimov, A. E., Davydova, T. A., & Savkin, D. A. (2020). Russian language in Central Asia: Current status and prospects. Post-Soviet Issues, 7(3): 373–388. <u>https://doi.org/10.24975/2313-8920-2020-7-3-373-388</u>
- EuropeanCommission(2024).Turkmenistan,<a href="https://international-partnerships.ec.europa.eu/countries/turkmenistan\_en">https://international-partnerships.ec.europa.eu/countries/turkmenistan\_en</a> (Last visit 7.3.2024).
- Fink, S.; Sazonov V. (2023). Political culture and political agency: from Gaugamela to Mosul. In: H. Mölder et al. Cultural Change in Political Communities – The Impact of Populism and Extremism on the International Security Environment. 65–83, Springer.
- Fominykh, A. (2017). Russia's Public Diplomacy in Central Asia and the Caucasus: The Role of the Universities. The Hague Journal of Diplomacy, 12(1): 56–85. <u>https://doi.org/10.1163/1871191X-12341350</u>
- Froumin, I., & Cao, R. (2020). Russia, China, and Central Asia in Higher Education. In I. Froumin & R. Cao, China and Europe on the New Silk Road (pp. 380–400). Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/oso/9780198853022.003.0020
- Geography of Russian Houses. Россотрудничество. (n.d.). <u>https://rs.gov.ru/en/russian-houses-abroad/represents-with-map/(Last visit 1.5.2024)</u>.
- Goble, Paul. (2023). "Japan Quietly Playing a Growing Role in Central Asia." The Jamestown Foundation, Eurasia Daily Monitor 20 (71). <u>https://jamestown.org/program/japan-quietly-playing-a-growing-role-in-central-asia/</u>.
- Hanõkov 1973, Ханыков, Н. (1973). Экспедиция в Хорасан. Центральная Азия в источниках и материалах XIX начала XX века М: Наука.
- Hartog, F.: Brown, S. (2015). Regimes of Historicity: Presentism and Experiences of Time. Columbia University Press. <u>https://doi.org/10.7312/hart16376</u>
- Hoagland, R.E. Repass, M.S., Wolkov, N. (2021). Russia's historical defense ties and China's rising military presence in Central Asia. Caspian Policy Centre 2021. https://api.caspianpolicy.org/media/uploads/2021/04/Russias-Historical-Defense-Ties-and-Chinas-Rising-Military-Presence-in-Central-Asia.pdf (Last visit 7.6.2024).

von Humboldt, A. (1843). Asie centrale, <u>https://archive.org/details/asiecentralerec03humbgoog</u> (Last visit 7.6.2024).

IEA 2020. Kazakhstan energy profile. International Energy Agency. April. <u>https://www.iea.org/reports/kazakhstan-energy-profile</u>. (Last visit 10.5.2024).

IEA 2020. Uzbekistan Energy Profile. International Energy Agency. April. Kättesaadav: <u>https://www.iea.org/reports/uzbekistan-energy-profile</u> (Last visit 10.5.2024).

IEA2022."Turkmenistan."InternationalEnergyAgency,<a href="https://www.iea.org/countries/turkmenistan">https://www.iea.org/countries/turkmenistan</a> (Last visit 7.6.2024).

IEA 2022. Kazakhstan." International Energy Agency. June. https://www.iea.org/countries/kazakhstan. (Last visit 1.6.2024).

IEA 2023. Energy system of Kyrgyzstan. International Energy Agency, <u>https://www.iea.org/countries/kyrgyzstan</u>. (Last visit 17.5.2024).

IEA 2020. Kyrgyzstan Energy Profile. IEA, https://www.iea.org/reports/kyrgyzstan-energy-profile. Interfax 2023. Tajikistan, Russia discuss partnership in fuel and energy complex, including problems of Sangtuda 1 HPP, https://interfax.com/newsroom/top-stories/95517/ (Last visit 10.5.2024).

Japan International Cooperation Agency (JICA) 2020. Japan's ODA: Rolling Plan for the Republic of Tajikistan.

Japan International Cooperation Agency (JICA) 2022. Japan's ODA: Rolling Plan for the Republic of Kyrgyzstan.

Japan International Cooperation Agency (JICA) 2023. "Japan's ODA: Rolling Plan for the Republic of Uzbekistan."

Kaziev Sattar S., Mogunova Marina V., Mogunov Sergey V. 2020. Inter-ethnic marriages among Russians and Kazakhs in the cities of Northern Kazakhstan. Vestnik Antropologii 3(51).

Lachowicz, M. (2023). Defenders of an Imagined Empire. The Russian Diaspora as a Tool of Propaganda and Anti-Democratic Politics in the Central and Southeast Asian Region. Przegląd Politologiczny, 2, 23–38. <u>https://doi.org/10.14746/pp.2023.28.2.2</u>

Larrabee, F. S.; O. Lesser, I. (2003). Turkish foreign policy in an age of uncertainty. Rand Corporation.

Kamolzoda, Mumotz, Olimovna (2018). *The Myths of National Identity in Former Soviet Tajikistan*. Durham theses, Durham University, <u>http://etheses.dur.ac.uk/12917/</u> (Last visit 29.5.2024).

Lee-Jones, K. 2021. Overview of corruption and anti-corruption in Central Asia. Transparency International. <u>https://knowledgehub.transparency.org/helpdesk/overview-of-corruption-and-anti-corruption-in-central-asia</u> (Last visit 2.6.2024).

Mandaville, P. (2023). The Geopolitics of Religious Soft Power: How States Use Religion in Foreign Policy. Oxford University Press.

Mandaville, P.; Hamid, Sh. (2018). Islam as Statecraft: How Governments Use Religion in Foreign Policy. The New Geopolitics: Middle East.

Marshall, T (2016). Prisoners of geography: ten maps that explain everything about the world. Vol. 1. Simon and Schuster.

Marshall, T (2021). The power of geography: Ten maps that reveal the future of our world. Vol. 4. Simon and Schuster.

Mayor, F. (1992) "Preface". In Dani, A. H.; Masson, V. M. (eds.). The Dawn of Civilization, Earliest Times to 700 B.C. History of Civilizations of Central Asia. Vol. 1. Paris: UNESCO Publishing. pp. 7–9.

McBride, J.; Berman, N.; Chatzky, A. (2023). China's Massive Belt and Road Initiative. Council on Foreign Relation, <u>https://www.cfr.org/backgrounder/chinas-massive-belt-and-road-initiative</u> (Last visit 6.6.2024).

Kepel, G. (2002). Jihad. The Trail of Political Islam. Cambridge, Massachusetts: The Belknap Press of Harvard University Press

Larrabee, F. S.; Nader, A. (2013). Turkish-Iranian relations in a changing Middle East. Rand Corporation.

Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Turkey. "Economic Relations between Turkey and the Republic of Kazakhstan." <u>https://www.mfa.gov.tr/economic-relations-between-turkey-and-republic-of-kazakhstan.en.mfa</u> (Last visit 14.4.2024).

Mitrova, T. 2024. "Russia's Expanding Energy Ties in Central Asia." Center on Global Energy Policy at Columbia SIPA. 29 February. Kättesaadav: <u>https://www.energypolicy.columbia.edu/russiasexpanding-energy-ties-in-central-asia/</u>. (Last visit 2.6.2024).

- Mölder, H., Sazonov, V. (2019). The Development of Intercultural Dialogue in the Middle East: Contemporary Ideological-Religious Conflicts and their Historical Roots. – Sazonov, V.; Mölder, H.; Espak, P. (eds.). Cultural Crossroads in the Middle East – Historical, Cultural and Political Legacy of Intercultural Dialogue and Conflict from Ancient Near East to Present Days. Tartu: University of Tartu Press, pp. 10–35.
- Mullodjanov, P. (2019). When Will Tajikistan Start to Explore China? Central Asian Bureau for Analytical Reporting, <u>https://cabar.asia/en/when-will-tajikistan-start-to-explore-china</u> (Last visit 11.5.2024).
- Murashkin, N. (2020). Japan and the New Silk Road: Diplomacy, Development and Connectivity. Routledge.
- Muratbekova, A. (2023). Japan's Value-Based Relationship in Action: The Case of Central Asia. Eurasian Research Journal 5 (2): 19–33.
- Nelson, H. (2023). Turkmenistan Signs its First-Ever Energy Deal with the EU. Caspian Policy Center. 24 August, <u>https://www.caspianpolicy.org/research/energy-and-economy-program-eep/turkmenistan-signs-its-first-ever-energy-deal-with-the-eu</u>. (Last visit 2.3.2024).
- Nourzhanov, B. (2013). Tajikistan. A *political and social history*. Australian National University E-Press,

https://library.oapen.org/viewer/web/viewer.html?file=/bitstream/handle/20.500.12657/3352 8/459996.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y (Last visit 2.6.2024).

OECD (2023). An economic overview of Kazakhstan: trends and challenges. <u>https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/sites/966eed7d-en/index.html?itemId=/content/component/966eed7d-en</u> (Last visit 2.3.2024).

Pieper, M. (2020). Russkiy Mir: The Geopolitics of Russian Compatriots Abroad. Geopolitics, 25(3), 756–779. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14650045.2018.1465047</u>

Pink, J. (2010). Tradition and Ideology in Contemporary Sunnite Qur'ānic Exegesis: Qur'ānic Commentaries from the Arab World, Turkey and Indonesia and their Interpretation of Q 5:51. – Die Welt des Islams, Vol. 50(1), pp. 3–59

- Pivovar, E. I., Ershov, V. F., & Katagoshchina, M. V. (2021). Post-Soviet diasporas in the age of the internet. RUDN Journal of Russian History, 20(3): 437–447.
- Popova, M., & De Bot, K. (2020). Maintenance of the Russian language in Kazakhstan: Activity of Russia. Alkalmazott Nyelvtudomány 20 (2).
- Putz, C. (2024). Russian Gas Supplies to Uzbekistan Set to Grow. The Diplomat, <u>https://thediplomat.com/2024/03/russian-gas-supplies-to-uzbekistan-set-to-grow/</u>(Last visit 4.6.2024).

Reuters. (2023). "China's main import gas pipelines." Reuters. 24 May, <u>https://www.reuters.com/markets/commodities/chinas-main-import-gas-pipelines-2023-05-24/</u>. (Last visit 2.6.2024).

- Radio Free Europe (2024). Uzbek Insider Takes Over Gas Project Linked To Sanctioned Russian Tycoon Closely Tied To Putin, https://www.rferl.org/a/uzbekistan-investigation-gas-project-putin-tycoon-timchenko/32848767.html (Last visit 2.6.2024).
- Rakhimov, M. (2015) Central Asia in the Context of Western and Russian Interests. Europe En Formation 1: 140–54.
- Ramani, S. (2015). Japan's Strategy for Central Asia. The Diplomat, 2015. <u>https://thediplomat.com/2015/07/japans-strategy-for-central-asia/</u>. (Last visit 3.4.2024).

- Saidov, Z.Z. (2023). Russian in the Modern Socio-Cultural, Educational and Political Space of the Republic of Tajikistan. Bulletin of the Moscow State Regional University (Pedagogics), 1, 50–62. https://doi.org/10.18384/2310-7219-2023-1-50-62
- Sazonov, V., Ploom, I. (2019). Insights Into the Ideological Core and Political Pillars of ISIS. "Sõjateadlane" 13: 87–115.
- Sazonov, V., & Ploom, I. (2021). Some remarks on the ideological core and political pillars of the socalled Islamic state. Modern Management Review, 26(1), 59–80.
- Special Eurasia (2023). Geopolitics of Russia's Language Schools in Kyrgyzstan. https://www.specialeurasia.com/2023/09/18/russia-languag-kyrgyzstan/ (Last visit 2.6.2024).
- Sushchiy, S. (2021). Russians in the South Caucasus: Factors of Dynamics in the Post-Soviet Period and Geodemographic Prospects. Sotsiologicheskie issledovaniya, 9. <u>https://doi.org/10.31857/S013216250015744-1</u>
- Suslov, M. (2017). "Russian World": Russia's Policy towards its Diaspora. Russie.Nei.Visions 103: 1–30.
- Tan, CK. (2023). China's Xi Pledges Billions in Loans to Central Asian Nations. Nikkei Asia, <u>https://asia.nikkei.com/Politics/International-relations/China-s-Xi-pledges-billions-in-loans-to-Central-Asian-nations</u> (Last visit 5.2.2024).
- TimesCA. 2024. "EU Drives Increased Demand For Kazakh Coal." The Times of Central Asia. 24 January. <u>https://timesca.com/eu-drives-increased-demand-for-kazakh-coal/</u>. (Last visit 19.4.2024).
- TimesCA (2024). EU Drives Increased Demand For Kazakh Coal, <u>https://timesca.com/eu-drives-increased-demand-for-kazakh-coal/</u> (Last visit 16.1.2024).
- TimesCA. 2024. "Uzbekistan Planning to Abandon State Regulation of Coal Prices." Times of Central Asia. 18 April, <u>https://timesca.com/uzbekistan-planning-to-abandon-state-regulation-of-coal-prices/</u>. (Last visit 16.1.2024).
- TimesCA. 2024. "Huge Increase in Gas Supplies to Uzbekistan Sparks Debate Over Russian Influence." The Times of Central Asia. 22 March, <u>https://timesca.com/russian-gas-imports-to-uzbekistan-set-for-huge-increase/</u>. (Last visit 16.1.2024).
- TransparencyInternational:CorruptionPerceptionIndex2022.<a href="https://www.transparency.org/en/cpi/2022">https://www.transparency.org/en/cpi/2022</a> (Last visit 1.6.2024).
- Tsyryapkina, Y. (2023). Russians in Republic of Uzbekistan: Demography, Identity, and Social Dynamics. Vestnik Volgogradskogo gosudarstvennogo universiteta. Serija 4. Istorija. Regionovedenie. Mezhdunarodnye otnoshenija, 4: 178–191. <a href="https://doi.org/10.15688/jvolsu4.2023.4.14">https://doi.org/10.15688/jvolsu4.2023.4.14</a>
- Tsyryapkina, Y. (2023). Russians in the Republic of Uzbekistan: Demography, Identity, and Social Dynamics. Vestnik Volgogradskogo gosudarstvennogo universiteta. Serija 4. Istorija. Regionovedenie. Mezhdunarodnye otnoshenija, 4, 178–191. <a href="https://doi.org/10.15688/jvolsu4.2023.4.14">https://doi.org/10.15688/jvolsu4.2023.4.14</a>
- United States Strategy for Central Asia 2019-2025, February 2020, <u>https://tj.usembassy.gov/wp-content/uploads/sites/143/United-States-Strategy-for-Central-Asia-2019-2025-1.pdf</u> (Last visit 11.4.2024).
- Uzbekistan Ministry of Energy. "Official Website of the Ministry of Energy of the Republic of Uzbekistan." <u>https://uzmei.uz/en/index.php</u> (Last visit 2.5.2024).
- UZSTAT. 2024. Industrial production of the republic of Uzbekistan for January-December 2023 (PRELIMINARY DATA). Contact number.: 71-202-80-47www.stat.uz." STATISTICS AGENCY UNDER THE PRESIDENT OF THE REPUBLIC OF UZBEKISTAN. 19 January, <u>https://stat.uz/en/press-center/news-of-committee/49742-o-zbekiston-respublikasiningsanoat-ishlab-chiqarishi-2023-yil-yanvar-fevral-6</u>. (Last visit 1.5.2024).
- Webber, L. 2022. Voice of Khorasan Magazine and the Internationalization of Islamic State's Anti-<br/>TalibanPropaganda, JamestownFoundation, May6,

2022, https://jamestown.org/program/voice-of-khorasan-magazine-and-the-

internationalization-of-islamic-states-anti-taliban-propaganda/. (Last visit 11.6.2024).

- Weitz, R. (2012). Kazakhstan-China Military Exchanges Continue. Jamestown Foundation. <u>https://jamestown.org/program/kazakhstan-china-military-exchanges-continue/</u> (Last visit 29.1.2024).
- Webberm, L., Pannier, B. (2023). The Islamic Movement of Uzbekistan's Enduring Influence on IS-Khurasan. Global Networks, 3.3.2023, <u>https://gnet-research.org/2023/03/03/the-islamic-</u> <u>movement-of-uzbekistans-enduring-influence-on-is-khurasan/</u> (Last visit 13.6.2024).
- Wheeler, Th. (2013). Turkey's role and interests in Central Asia. Saferworld, <u>https://www.files.ethz.ch/isn/172943/turkeys-role-and-interests-in-central-asia.pdf</u> (Last visit 12.2.2024).
- Zakaryaeva, G. (2023). Дерусификация в Туркменистане. International Journal of Russian Studies, 12(2), 127-135.
- Zgryziewicz, R. (2016). Daesh strategic communications. In A. Kudors, A. Pabriks (Eds.). The war in Syria: Lessons for the west. The Centre for East European Policy Studies. University of Latvia Press.
- Zhir-Lebed, M. I. (2022). Russians of Kazakhstan and their nationality: how are civic consciousness and social networks connected? Bulletin of Kazakh National Women's Teacher Training University 1: 6–16. <u>https://doi.org/10.52512/2306-5079-2022-89-1-6-16</u>
- Космарская Н.П., Савин И.С. (2020). Судьба русского языка в Казахстане: возможности и барьеры использования российской «мягкой силы». Восток (Oriens). No 5. C.119–130. DOI: 10.31857/S086919080011739-9
- Кудоярова, Т. В. (2010). Русский язык в современной образовательной среде Туркменистана. Полилингвиальность и транскультурные практики 3: 70-74.
- Қазақстан Республикасындағы ұлттық құрамы, діни нанымы және тілдерді меңгеруі (2023). 2021 жылғы Қазақстан Республикасы халқының ұлттық санағының қорытындылары. Астана.
- Лепшокова, З.Х. (2021). Воспринимаемая инклюзивность контекста, идентичности и аккультурация русских в Кыргызстане и Эстонии. Культурно-историческая психология, 17 (4): 25–33. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.17759/chp.2021170403</u>
- Население Туркменистана и его национальный состав в 2020 году (оценка) МетеоЖурнал. (n.d.)., <u>https://meteojurnal.ru/naselenie-turkmenistana-i-ego-naczionalnyj-sostav-v-2020-godu-oczenka/</u> (Last visit 27.3.2024).
- Национальный состав населения Открытые данные Статистика Кыргызстана. (n.d.). <u>https://www.stat.kg/ru/opendata/category/312/</u> (Last visit 1.3.2024).
- Риклтон, К. (26. veebruar 2024). Попытки туркмен отказаться от русского языка и давление Кремля. Радио Азаттык. <u>https://rus.azattyq.org/a/32835306.html</u> (Last visit 3.4.2024).
- Саидов, З. 3. (2023). Русский язык в современном социокультурном, образовательном и политическом пространстве Республики Таджикистан. Московский педагогический журнал, 1, 50-62.
- Сулейменова, Э.Д. (2020). "Russian Overseas Flagship" и языковая ситуация в Казахстане. Russian Language Journal / Русский язык, 70, pp. 23-58. <u>https://www.jstor.org/stable/10.2307/27046153</u>

Теперь «не самая малочисленная»: Туркменистан объявил, что его население превышает 7миллионовчеловек.РадиоАзатлык(juuli152023),https://rus.azathabar.com/a/turkmenistan-vpervye-za-17-let-obnarodoval-chislennost%D1%8C-naseleniya-zayaviv-chto-prevyshaet-ona-7-millionov-chelovek/32504632.html (Last visit 1.6.2024).